

University of Central Florida STARS

Honors Undergraduate Theses

UCF Theses and Dissertations

2021

The Implications of Case-based Learning (CBL) on Biochemistry Education: An Integrative Literature Review

Ryan C. Ripert University of Central Florida

Part of the Biology Commons, and the Online and Distance Education Commons Find similar works at: https://stars.library.ucf.edu/honorstheses University of Central Florida Libraries http://library.ucf.edu

This Open Access is brought to you for free and open access by the UCF Theses and Dissertations at STARS. It has been accepted for inclusion in Honors Undergraduate Theses by an authorized administrator of STARS. For more information, please contact STARS@ucf.edu.

Recommended Citation

Ripert, Ryan C., "The Implications of Case-based Learning (CBL) on Biochemistry Education: An Integrative Literature Review" (2021). *Honors Undergraduate Theses*. 1005. https://stars.library.ucf.edu/honorstheses/1005



THE IMPLICATIONS OF CASE-BASED LEARNING (CBL) ON BIOCHEMISTRY EDUCATION: AN INTEGRATIVE LITERATURE REVIEW

by

RYAN RIPERT

A thesis submitted in partial fulfillment of the requirements for the Honors in the Major Program in Biology in the College of Sciences and the Burnett Honors College at the University of Central Florida Orlando, Florida

Spring Term, 2021

Thesis Chair: Alaa Hashim

ABSTRACT

The COVID-19 has significantly impacted the world as we know it, especially in higher education institutions. In response to COVID-19, most colleges and universities were forced to close their doors to students and switch to online learning over Zoom. Although most students are adjusted well to this new mode of education, other students, such as individuals pursuing degrees in the sciences, have difficulty adapting to the online mode of instruction. Case-based learning (CBL) is considered one of the best strategies in teaching a course like Biochemistry in a large classroom setting. Implementing CBL in biochemistry education may increase student engagement in the curriculum. Students will connect the material they learned in class to their daily lives, promoting critical thinking. The purpose of this review was to determine the effects of CBL in biochemistry education. This integrative review will focus on the various CBL study that implored in a biochemistry class setting. The review aimed to determine the implication of CBL in teaching biochemistry and assess students' views regarding the CBL.

TABLE OF CONTENTS

INTRODUCTION	
PROBLEM STATEMENT	
PURPOSE	
BACKGROUND	4
Active Learning	4
CASE-BASED LEARNING (CBL)	4
CASE-BASED LEARNING IN BIOCHEMISTRY EDUCATION	6
METHODOLOGY	
RESULTS	9
DISCUSSION	
REFERENCES	

LIST OF FIGURES

Figure 1. Teaching condition and retention scores relationship significance for 1	non-CBL
and CBL pooled groups	
Figure 2: The Mean ± S.D. of Pre and Post CBL Intervention	

LIST OF TABLES

Table 1. The Comparison of Exam Scores	10
Table 2. The comparison of scores obtained after the CBL method and lecture method	1 11
Table 3: Result of Evaluation Test	14
Table 4. Students' response to case-based learning	16

INTRODUCTION

People all over the U.S. have been significantly affected by the COVID-19 pandemic, which has caused the deaths of millions of people across the nation. The number of infected people and deaths continues to increase globally, and no effective treatment has been determined to work against COVID-19. Almost every country placed restrictions to stop the spread of this virus from protecting the senior citizens and people with chronic diseases since they are considered high-risk groups. Furthermore, the young population has to abide by these restrictions and self-isolation to inhibit the dispersal of COVID-19.

As COVID-19 circumnavigates the globe, colleges and universities chose to restrict faceto-face lectures and laboratories as a tactic to slow the dispersal of this virus. Many professors are forced to work to deliver lectures and evaluate learning via online instruction. Simultaneously, higher education institutions are pushing faculty members to become better professors and provide higher levels of quality and value in an online classroom. Providing quality and value to a large class encompasses distinctive challenges. Consequently, the professors must determine efficient methods of instruction for large classes.

The American Society for Biochemistry and Molecular Biology (ASBMB) reported on the state of instruction in Biochemistry determined that higher education is driven by the course material and conveyed by lectures. These characteristics are associated with a surface approach to learning.¹ There are two main approaches to learning. The surface approach is associated with a low level of participation consisting of memorization and reproducing facts; however, the deep approach is associated with the high-level involvement, including internalizing content and making learning meaningful.² Many studies have determined a disadvantage of lecturedominated teaching in stimulating critical thinking in most students.³ Critical thinking is defined

as the process of conceptualizing and analyzing the information gathered from an experience. Therefore, lecture-dominated syllabi may obstruct students from understanding scientific practice and innovations. However, active learning strategies are often seen as alternatives or supplements to lecture-based curriculum.⁴

The biochemistry found in most textbooks and teaching sessions describes pathways as a set of molecules without direct context to real-life applications such as diet and physical activity. Real-world contexts reveal students to perspectives from numerous sources and determine why people may want different results. Introducing the active learning strategy, CBL in a biochemistry course may improve student engagement with the material, aid students in relating the course to their daily lives, and promote critical thinking. Several studies have shown that the advantage of relating human nutrition to metabolic biochemistry understanding in active learning situations makes the curriculum more relevant to students' lives.⁵ Students showed greater liking of the course, a more outstanding obligation of the need to study. Studies show that when the lecture integrates metabolic pathways and nutritional disorders, it shows that this presentation yielded better scores than a lecture-based course.⁵ This study will analyze various resources to determine the effects of CBL on a biochemistry education.

PROBLEM STATEMENT

The problem statement for this thesis is to investigate the positive and negative aspects of implementing case-based learning in a biochemistry classroom.

PURPOSE

The purpose of this integrative review is to examine the effects of case-based learning on biochemistry education.

BACKGROUND

Active Learning

The active learning interventions varied widely in intensity and application. They integrated tactics as distinct as group problem-solving, worksheets or tutorials completed during class, personal response systems, and studio or workshop course designs.⁶ A colossal amount of evidence reveals that schemes that promote student interactions and cognitively engage students with content lead to learning and positive outcomes for students in science courses. ⁶Many educational and governmental bodies have called for and supported the adoption of these student-centered strategies throughout the undergraduate science curriculum.⁶ Furthermore, providing evidence that active learning can improve undergraduate science education.

Case-Based Learning (CBL)

CBL is concerned with bridging the gap between theory and practice, between declarative and operational knowledge, and can apply to most professional training.² Students can use case-based learning can be used to exemplify particular issues. It can be used throughout a course to address the whole syllabus, the cases being designated so that the content areas that are to be addressed are represented and sequenced in the rationality of the build-up of knowledge.² The use of real-life case scenarios in teaching makes learning more applicable and relevant to students, and when CBL involves group work, it can enhance communication skills.⁷ Also, CBL is a student-involved process encouraging students to take accountability for their learning. In doing, so students develop the critical thinking and transferable skills, including lifelong learning needed outside of academia.⁸ Taken as a whole, CBL is an evidence-based instructional method shown to enable students to problem-solve via gathering and applying pertinent information, retaining relevant knowledge, and improving communication skills.⁴

In some disciplines, a case study is a perfect way of observing how students can apply their knowledge and professional skills. Case studies may need to be highly formal and carried out under supervision or carried out individually. Assessing the case study is essentially all-inclusive, but researchers can use aspects both for formative feedback and for collective assessment.³

In CBL, students are expected to solve detailed questions that can be open-ended and require articulate explanations to problems.⁹ A study comparing long-term content retention among students who were taught using a conventional lecturing method vs. an active learning method, the study showed that the performance on the retention exam related to "recognition" and "recall" questions decreased as a function of time in both groups. However, retention rates were still higher for the recognition questions, particularly among the students in the active learning group.⁸ Correspondingly, students exposed to active learning performed better on the "meaningful" questions rather than "memorization" questions on retention exams than students taught using only lectures.⁹ Furthermore, CBL has shown promise across several content-rich science disciplines concerning knowledge retention. Hence, a focus of ongoing work is to elucidate better how this pedagogy benefits learning in biochemistry courses.¹⁰ The hands-on approach of the case-study method of problem-solving allows students to learn by reading a textbook or listening to a lecture. In solving a case study, students acquire analysis and application skills, which is the objective of most courses. The use of a realistic situation also illustrates the relevance of foundational science coursework to society.⁴ Overall, CBL is an instructional technique that is both student-centered and based on group work and can benefit students in several ways. However, there is a gap in knowledge concerning knowledge retention in the teaching of biochemistry.⁸ To that effect, it is hypothesized that CBL will improve the academic performance of students enrolled in biochemistry

There are numerous reports on the use of case studies in large classes. Active learning has been used in teaching models where students and instructors interact online. Students were presented with various online resources like discussions via Zoom and discussion boards. Supporting resources that provide the framework for case processing can be transferrable to online platforms. The directed case framework used in this article can be implemented in large classes, and the access to web-based resources as described above can assist students during case processing.⁶ For instance, the learning issues or questions can be provided to students in the class for an initial discussion, and their group responses can be posted online.

In CBL, students are engaged in inquiry, and material is presented based on their significance. Students must become investigators, collect relevant information, and recognize fundamental concepts, incorporate previous knowledge, make informed decisions, and have group discussions to determine the best solutions to an issue.⁸ CBL does not necessitate much investment of resources. There may be no need to train a facilitator to lead small group discussions, and cases can be assimilated into lectures within an extensive range of class sizes. Furthermore, CBL has been shown to improve experimental knowledge, increase collaboration, and develop critical-thinking skills.

Case-Based Learning in Biochemistry Education

Despite its strong connections to nutrition, the biochemistry found in most textbooks and lecture describes mechanisms as a set of molecules and not in direct context to diet. Presenting nutritional components in a CBL-based biochemistry course may increase student involvement with the material, enhancing its significance to students' lives and promoting vital cognitive

skills. Some evidence shows that this novel approach yields positive academic outcomes, particularly in teaching macronutrient metabolism.⁸ Numerous research studies have described the benefits of linking human nutrition to metabolic biochemistry understanding in active learning settings that make the material relatable to students' lives. Other professors teaching biochemistry have developed cases based on physical activity or non-nutritional experimental situations. For instance, issues dealing with alcoholism in young adults to introduce body fluid homeostasis, low carbohydrate/ketogenic diet, and the fat substitute Olestra discuss lipid structure. ¹¹

Familiarizing this model to undergraduate biochemistry courses outside of medicine presents specific challenges. Students in undergraduate biochemistry continue into varied science majors, so curricula are content-driven instead of focusing on open-ended clinical diagnoses. It may be unrealistic to expect a fair investment of instructor's time at the group level in a vast class context. Most publications on undergraduate case studies refer to the instructor's role as a facilitator at the whole class level. In CBL, the instructor presents the case to the class and generally does not interact intensively with each group during case processing. Instead, the instructor may facilitate consensus with the class as a whole to generate an integrated solution after each group has worked on their own.

METHODOLOGY

A literature review of the implications of CBL on biochemistry education conducted with key terms combined to including "biochemistry," "case-based learning," and "education." The search results consisted of a total of 129 sources. The sources were analyzed and narrowed down to 25 articles that seemed most relevant to the purpose of this review. The sources were retrieved from UCF Library Quick Search and Google Scholars using the search terms. The data was organized into tables that synthesized the many positive and negative aspects of implementing CBL in biochemistry education. Inclusion criteria for the search results included articles were that must have been published in English and focused on case-based learning in Biochemistry education. Each paper was evaluated and individually critiqued for relevance to the topic and application to CBL in biochemistry education. Subsequently, all the critiques were synthesized, and key data was extracted. Consistent and inconsistent findings were noted, along with gaps in the knowledge. Recommendations for future research were identified. Implications for biochemistry education were included, along with the limitations of this review.

RESULTS

Cornely (1998) used CBL with nutrition elements in her study at Providence College.¹² The student responses to the case-study exercise have been positive in the study. In an evaluation at the end of the semester, students were presented with a series of 30 statements concerning the course.¹² They were requested to answer whether they agreed, strongly agreed, disagreed, strongly disagreed, or were neutral about the statement.¹² In response to the statement "The case study was a valuable exercise," 45% of the 51 students in the class strongly agreed, 31% agreed, 18% were neutral, and 6% disagreed.⁴ On the contrary, in response to the statement "The homework assignments were a valuable exercise," 18% of the students strongly agreed, 45% agreed, 23% were neutral, and 14% disagreed.¹² Thus, the case study exercise has the effect of involving students who would not otherwise be engaged.¹²

Davis followed a similar approach incorporating CBL as a supplement to lectures to integrate metabolic pathways and nutritional disorders.⁷ They reported that this format yielded better scores than a lecture-based course. Including case studies into the Nutritional Biochemistry curriculum at Georgia Southern University allowed students to learn in a more active environment.⁷ They gained knowledge of metabolic diseases and made connections between the disorders and the metabolic pathways discussed in class. To further evaluate the effectiveness of this method, exam scores were examined.⁷ During the 2001 Spring semester, the Nutritional Biochemistry course was composed of 20 students, and no case studies were utilized that involved metabolic pathways.⁷ In contrast, the 2002 spring semester Nutritional Biochemistry course was composed of 26 students, and two case studies were presented that focused on metabolism and the connections between several metabolic pathways.⁷ Initially, final exam scores were examined since this exam is comprehensive and cumulative, including all

metabolic pathways.⁷ When an increase was noticed in the section where case studies focusing on metabolism were used, the regular exam that mainly focused on metabolic pathways and their connections was also examined.⁷

	2001 Spring Class	2002 Spring Class
Final Exam Averages	71 <u>+</u> 2.31* %	76 <u>+</u> 2.16* %
Final Exam Score Range	46% - 95%	55% - 94%
Exam #4 Averages	77 <u>+</u> 2.31* %	80 <u>+</u> 2.61* %
Test #4 Score Range	48% - 98%	61% - 98%

Table 1. The Comparison of Exam Scores⁷

* 95% Confidence Limit.

A slight but noticeable increase in performance is shown in Table 1 for the 2002 Spring Class (CBL Class).⁷ Other exam scores were examined to determine if the 2002 Spring Class performed better overall than the 2001 Spring Class, and no correlation was observed.⁷ The final averages for both classes were within two percentage points of each other.

Hermes-Lima et al. found that student discussions on clinical applications like obesity, diabetes, and iron metabolism increased biochemistry integration and application.¹³ The topics included anorexia, energy requirements for a triathlete, vitamin D deficiency, and dietary implications of cystic fibrosis.¹³ Students also showed greater satisfaction with the course, a greater appreciation of the need to study, and a better appreciation of nutrition as an integrated topic.¹³ This study aimed to determine the value of a system of seminars on clinically related biochemistry topics for undergraduate students in medicine and nutrition at the University of Brasília, Brazil.¹³ The average performance grades for the seminars in the first semester of 1998 were significantly lower than those for the following semesters, indicating some degree of success with the new system.¹³ They conducted, utilizing questionnaires, an evaluation of each student seminar about the overall biochemistry learning experience connected to the clinical

expectations of the students.¹³ Moreover, when asked whether the seminars were relevant to a more clinical approach to biochemistry and whether the oral presentations could be viewed as valuable tools for the understanding of biochemistry, 96% (n = 188) and 80.6% (n = 150) of the students, respectively, answered, "yes." ¹³

Joshi et al. carried out a study in the Department of Biochemistry, government medical college, Aurangabad, after obtaining institutional ethical approval.⁹ Sixty students, including males and females, were randomly selected from the first-year medical class.⁹ Then, these participants were randomly divided into batches A and B of thirty each. For these participants, a clinical biochemistry topic was selected.⁹ All the sixty participants were evaluated with a pre-test in multiple-choice questions with one best possible answer related to the topic chosen.⁹ This score evaluates all participants and is the pre-test score for batch A and batch B.

Table 2. The comparison of scores obtained after CBL method and lecture method⁹

	Post CBL Score of batch A	Post lecture Score of batch B	P value
MCQ evaluation	9.32 ± 2.04	6.28±1.77	< 0.0001*
* Extremely statistically significant			

1

Table 2 shows a comparison between post-CBL and post-lecture scores. In the study, there was a significant improvement in scores in post-test after CBL than in post-test after lecture method.⁹ These results are supported by other studies which show increased test scores post-CBL session. Regarding the perception of the students, no one thought that the CBL session was not helpful. The majority of students (73%) opined that CBL helped understand the topic; sessions motivated them to learn and arouse interest in clinical biochemistry topics.⁹ 69% of the students marked "strongly agree" on the importance of the role of facilitator.⁹ Majority of students thought that the case discussion helped them in critical thinking and to link basic knowledge with

applied. The majority of students (77%) opined that CBL would help them diagnose in the future, and 83% of students opined that sessions helped them interpret the results better.⁹ Most importantly, 90% of the students felt CBL be better than the lecture method in understanding clinical biochemistry topic.⁹

Kulak, V., Newton, G., & Sharma, R. used the revised two-factor study process questionnaire, a retention test, final exam grades, and other demographic information to statistically compare academic outcomes of students subjected to either CBL or non-CBL active learning techniques.⁸ They showed that students exposed to CBL in a second-year course performed significantly better on a retention test conducted nine months after the final exam. There was a positive correlation between a deep learning approach and higher retention scores.⁸ The primary research question of the present study was to determine whether the use of CBL in an undergraduate biochemistry course would improve the retention of crucial concepts.⁸ There were statistically significant improvements in the retention scores of the CBL class compared to the non-CBL class, and the DA score significantly predicted retention scores in the CBL condition; however, this resulted in a moderate correlation.⁸



Figure 1. Teaching condition and retention scores relationship significance for non-CBL and CBL pooled groups⁸

The CBL group performed significantly better on the retention test than the non-CBL group as measured by independent sample t-tests in each pooled condition, as shown in Figure 1.⁸ When retention test scores were analyzed as a function of treatment condition and gender, gender was non-significant.⁸ There was no correlation between teaching treatment and gender on retention scores.

Millard designed a series of cases based on popular television medical dramas where characters were patients at the E.R. suffering from drug overuse; the issues aimed to teach enzyme inhibition and lipid metabolism. ¹⁴ Although there is no quantitative data to suggest that using television dramas is more successful than written cases based on the medical literature, student evaluations, even chemistry majors with no intention to pursue medicine, they often comment favorably about this approach.¹⁴ Students generally find biochemistry to be the most

rigorous course they have ever taken. Many students report back from medical school and graduate school that they find themselves exceptionally well prepared.¹⁴ They often cite the difficulty of the case studies as being key to their preparation.¹⁴

Nair et al. studied a group of 100 students that were divided into two groups as the control group and the study group.¹⁵ A total of 50 students were introduced to case-based learning, which formed the test group, and 50 students who attended lectures formed the control group.¹⁵ A very significant improvement was observed among the students after the CBL sessions, which can be observed in Table 3 (below). A 4-point Likert scale questionnaire which contained eight questions was administered to the students to know their perception of the usefulness of the CBL.¹⁵

Table 3: Result of Evaluation Test¹⁵

	Before intervention	After intervention	p value
Test	20.42±11.6	36.5±11	p<0.0001
Control	16±10.5	26.6±13	p<0.0001

p<0.0001=very significant.

98% of the students reported that they found the CBL sessions to be a fascinating method of gaining knowledge.¹⁵ 84% of them felt that they exposed them to an experience of logical application of the knowledge, which was acquired in cracking cases, which would be of great help in the future also.¹⁵ Case-Based Learning (CBL) was used, and it is effective in the medical curriculum for a better understanding of Biochemistry among the medical students.¹⁵

Patil et al. conduct a study that included 148 students of the first-year student¹⁶ The traditional lecture was given to all 148 students, and the pre-test was completed by giving ten multiple-choice questions.¹⁶ Then, the 148 students were divided into two groups, the test group,

and the control group. A 4-point Likert scale questionnaire which contained ten questions, was administered to the students to know their perception of the usefulness of the CBL. It was observed that 97% of students enjoyed the new teaching method and developed an interest in the subject.¹⁶ It was also observed that the intervention group's perception was significantly improved compared with pre-and post-test multiple-choice questions. The study also observed that analytical thinking ability was highly increased in Group 1 than that of Group 2.¹⁶ CBL was determined to be a very effective technique. It helps improve not only students' perception but also analytical thinking ability in this study.¹⁶



Figure 2: The Mean ± S.D. of Pre and Post CBL Intervention¹⁶

At the same time, students' perception was assessed using Pre-tests and Post-tests in Figure 2 (above). It was observed that the post-test score (8.05 ± 1.45) was increased than that of the pre-test score (7.72 ± 1.35) .

Salgar conducted a study to determine the perception of students to various aspects of case-based learning.¹⁷ The present study was conducted in a batch of 125 first-year students at

Rural Medical College of Pravara Institute of Medical Sciences, Loni. All the participants were included in the test group, and no control group was formed.¹⁷ The modules prepared for the case-based learning session were based on common medical problems. For each module, three sessions were conducted.¹⁷

Q.	Question	Agreed	Neutral	Disagreed
No	Question	(%)	Response (%)	(%)
1.	CBL is more useful in understanding particular topic as compared to didactic lecture.	112 (89.6)	04 (3.2)	09 (7.2)
2.	CBL can be conducted along with lectures.	89 (71.2)	00	36 (28.8)
3.	Clinical scenario given in CBL was interesting.	121 (96.8)	01(0.8)	03 (2.4)
4.	CBL session was interactive.	116 (92.8)	03 (2.4)	06 (4.8)
5.	CBL module is helpful in development of critical thinking.	117 (93.6)	04 (3.2)	04 (3.2)
6.	CBL is important for independent learning and developing communication skills.	123 (98.4)	00	02 (1.6)
7.	Role of facilitator in CBL is important.	124 (99.2)	01 (0.8)	00
8.	CBL can be recommended for future batches	119 (95.2)	00	06 (4.8)
9.	CBL will be help to perform better in formative as well as summative examinations.	121 (96.8)	01 (0.8%)	03 (2.4)
10.	CBL is useful in terms of future application of knowledge in medicine.	116 (92.8)	04 (3.2)	05 (4)

Table 4. Students' response to case-based learning¹⁷

At the end of the session, students' perception regarding case-based learning as enhancing learning was assessed by a close-ended questionnaire obtained from each participant. The majority of students felt that case-based learning is more helpful in understanding biochemistry than lectures. A total of 112 (89.6%) students agreed that CBL sessions are more useful in understanding biochemistry than didactic lectures.¹⁷ 89 (71.2%) participants suggested that CBL can be conducted along with lectures.¹⁷ Most of the participating students indicated that the CBL module is helpful in the development of critical thinking and can be recommended for future batches.¹⁷ 98.4% of students perceived that the CBL module was practical in self-directed learning and developing communication skills.¹⁷ A total of 96.8% expressed the view that CBL is very useful in clearing the concept of the particular topic, which is not cleared during regular theory classes. Therefore CBL will help them to perform better information as well as summative examinations.¹⁷ The role of facilitator in the CBL session was reported to be

important by 99.2% of participants.¹⁷ Majority of the students enjoyed CBL sessions as it was very interactive and allowed them to participate actively in the learning process which is not possible in didactic lectures.¹⁷ 98.4% of students perceived that the case-based learning module was helpful in independent learning and developing communication skills.¹⁷ The role of facilitator in case-based learning sessions was reported to be important by 99.2% of participants.¹⁷ The study supports that case-based learning can be used as an innovative teaching method for increased retention of knowledge.¹⁷

DISCUSSION

It is strongly encouraged that instructors interested in active learning collaborate with the teaching community via online journals. For students familiar with working independently on assignments, the case-study exercise provides the opportunity to work collaboratively with their peers. During the case-study activities, the students need to be actively engaged in proposing solutions. In a course such as biochemistry, where it is all too usual for students to feel completely overwhelmed by the utter size of the material, an exercise like the one described here allows them to sort through a large amount of data and begin to make meaningful connections between topics. The activity requires the students to articulate, both verbally and in writing, the solution to the problem, and they must present convincing evidence to support their conclusion.

This study presents a review of CBL and the potential implications of its use in biochemistry education. Each author explains the teaching logic behind their case along with purposes. It also provides concise and transparent steps to help alleviate some of the challenges in case design. In turn, its contribution may facilitate implementing cases as academic aids and as research tools. Furthermore, the authors hope to initiate a discussion on case preparation standards for science teaching. This is important because most authors reporting on CBL use do not disclose how their cases were developed. Thistlethwaite et al. raise the point that there is no research examining the process by which cases are prepared and presented.²⁰ Additionally, it is possible that a lack of detailed guidance and consensus on case preparation is preventing instructors from considering CBL as a teaching aid.¹⁸

Current evidence on CBL comes from diverse research questions and varied sample sizes, student demographics, and course levels. For the most part, published results do not disclose the level of difficulty of the implemented cases. These variations make comparisons and

the generation of new evidence difficult. So far, evidence from systematic reviews and metaanalyses on CBL indicates that student motivation and satisfaction with these pedagogies are positive. There are strong indicators that: students enjoy CBL, students perceive CBL as an enhancement to their learning, and teachers enjoy teaching with CBL because it engages students. This means that most reports focus on outcomes largely dependent on overall experience indicators. However, reported experiences are often based on anecdotes or student interviews. Although such feedback is very informative, there is a need to corroborate such findings with statistically sound research instruments such as validated student and teacher questionnaires.⁵ The potential benefits of CBL seem to be many; however, its successful implementation in science education and its effects on learning approaches remains largely unquantified.

The attention is moving away from lecture-dominated curricula into active learning has generated numerous strategies and conceptual frameworks available across disciplines. Currently, there is no agreement that a single teaching method is superior to others. Different ways bring in advantages and disadvantages that have not yet been measured to allow for unbiased comparison. Lundeberg and Yadav pointed out that measurement is not as precise in pedagogical research as in the sciences.¹⁹ Quantitative measurement may limit methodology and research questions, so evidence comparison is generated slowly.¹⁹ Overall, this context creates several difficulties.

First, CBL may facilitate a direct and active cognitive experience in the learner, but its long-term effects are yet to be measured.⁵ Subsequent, there is also a lack of comprehensive research on the effectiveness of CBL over other active learning techniques or traditional lectures. ⁵ Additionally, evidence is absent regarding the degree of success of CBL at teaching content.

These problems may hinder the willingness of instructors to embrace change and to introduce CBL in their courses. This change implies a new intellectual pattern versus the one promoted by traditional lectures: a shift from relying on memorization alone to embracing the effort to examine, integrate, and assess scientific content.

Cornely portrayed using a current event as a vehicle to teach biochemical principles as a highly effective method for introducing the students to essential mechanisms in biochemistry.¹¹ At the same time, student interest was heightened because the content centered on a "story" that they could relate to in their own lives.¹¹ Also, the use of a case study that involves an element of conflict allows students to address the results of scientific inquiry on society.¹¹

Case-based learning may, however, lead to excessive workloads for both teacher and student.³ While these tasks improved the quality of performance, the students complained of excessive workload, which underlines the need for care in designing these sorts of assessments.³

Overall, case studies in a biochemistry course encourage students to actively participate in the learning of biochemistry rather than serving as passive recipients of large amounts of factual data. For students who have difficulty seeing the connections between their courses and their career aspirations, the case-study exercise allows them to see that knowledge of biochemical concepts and analytical problem-solving skills are essential to a clinical problem.⁴

Therefore, the implementation of CBL is aimed at facilitating learning of content and problem-solving, critical thinking, and communication skills in biochemistry education. To fully accomplish these goals, instructors need to become proficient in both writing and teaching with cases, which exposes the need for students to become comfortable using the case study approach. Further reviews and primary research are needed to be done on how these elements interplay are necessary.

These findings challenge institutions and science disciplines to reflect on practices and policies. Specifically, institutions should revise their tenure, promotion, and merit-recognition policies to incentivize and reward the implementation of evidence-based instructional practices for all academic ranks.²⁰ Preferably, implementing these practices would be an expectation for advancement and tenure to be factored into annual merit decisions.²⁰ These policy changes would require institutions and professional organizations to provide practical pedagogical training for the current and future professoriate, similar to the level provided for research.²⁰ Further, these policy changes cannot be meaningfully implemented without research-based guidelines for measuring effective teaching practices. Funding agencies should prioritize the development of such approaches.

CBL has a long history of use in various disciplines, so although research findings in a single field may not be generalizable, the research contributes to the general understanding of the impact of CBL pedagogy.⁵ It could serve as a framework for similar research in other disciplines. The use of case studies in biochemistry education and demonstrated that using cases in this context conferred positive academic outcomes, including preventing a shift towards surface learning and improving academic performance, particularly at the level of introductory knowledge. CBL provides students with diverse experiences in the classroom, including problem-solving, knowledge co-construction, communication, and group collaboration.⁵ Through these activities, students can explore and develop new knowledge and acquire relevant skills that have application both in the classroom and beyond. Several notable research gaps are addressed as we move away from lecture-dominated teaching towards using more active and student-centered approaches. Collaboration between researchers is essential, including cooperation between researchers teaching in the same degree programs and across programs and

institutions. It is only through the accumulation of a network of evidence that a comprehensive understanding of the short-term and long-term impact of case-based learning on education and academic performance will emerge.

REFERENCES

 American Society for Biochemistry and Molecular Biology. (2008).
Biochemistry/Molecular Biology and Liberal Education: A report to the Teagle Foundation. Retrieved from

http://www.teaglefoundation.org/Teagle/media/GlobalMediaLibrary/documents/resource s/Biochemistry_Molecular_Biology.pdf?ext=.pdf

- Fernandez-Santander, A. (2008). Cooperative learning combined with short periods of lecturing: A good alternative in teaching biochemistry. Biochemistry and Molecular Biology Education, 36(1), 34-34-38. <u>http://dx.doi.org/10.1002/bmb.20141</u>
- Anderson, W., Mitchell, S., & Osgood, M. (2005). Comparison of student performance in cooperative learning and traditional lecture-based biochemistry classes. Biochemistry and Molecular Biology Education, 33, 387-393.

http://dx.doi.org/10.1002/bmb.2005.49403306387

- Biggs JB, Tang C. (2011). Teaching for Quality Learning At University, 4th ed. The Society for Research into Higher Education & Open University Press: Berkshire.
- Kulak, V., & Newton, G. (2014). A guide to using case-based learning in biochemistry education. *Biochemistry & Molecular Biology Education*, 42(6), 457–473. https://doi.org/10.1002/bmb.20823
- Freeman, S., Eddy, S. L., McDonough, M., Smith, M. K., Okoroafor, N., Jordt, H., & Wenderoth, M. P. (2014). Active learning increases student performance in science, engineering, and mathematics. *Proceedings of the National Academy of Sciences*, *111*(23), 8410-8415.

- Davis, C. M. (2004). The successful use of case studies in nutritional biochemistry. *Georgia Journal of Science*, 62(2), 79-83.
- Kulak, V., Newton, G., & Sharma, R. (2017). Does the Use of Case-Based Learning Impact the Retention of Key Concepts in Undergraduate Biochemistry? *International Journal of Higher Education*, 6(2), 110–120.
- Joshi, K. B., Nilawar, A. N., & Thorat, A. P. (2014). Effect of case based learning in understanding clinical biochemistry. *International Journal of Biomedical and Advance Research*, 5(10), 516–518. <u>https://doi.org/10.7439/ijbar.v5i10.920</u>
- Malau-Aduli BS, Lee AYS, Cooling N, Catchpole M, Jose M, Turner R. (2013). Retention of knowledge and perceived relevance of basic sciences in an integrated casebased learning (CBL) curriculum. BMC Med Educ, 13, 139-148. https://doi.org/10.1186/1472-6920-13-139
- Cornely, K. (2003) Content and conflict: The use of current events to teach content in a biochemistry course. Biochem. Mol. Biol. Educ. 31, 173–176.
- Cornely, K. (1998) Use of case studies in an undergraduate biochemistry course. J. Chem. Educ. 75, 475–478.
- Hermes-Lima, M., Muniz, K. C., and Coutinho, I. S. (2002) The relevance of student seminars on clinically related subjects in a biochemistry course for medical and nutrition students. Biochem. Mol. Biol. Educ. 30, 30–34.
- Millard, J. T. (2009) Television medical dramas as case studies in biochemistry. J. Chem. Educ. 86, 1216–1218.
- 15. Nair, S. P., Shah, T., Seth, S., Pandit, N., & Shah, G. V. (2013). Case Based Learning: A Method for Better Understanding of Biochemistry in Medical Students. *Journal of*

Clinical & Diagnostic Research, 7(8), 1576–1578.

https://doi.org/10.7860/JCDR/2013/5795.3212

- Patil, V. S., Tiwale, S. M., Iyer, P., Venugopal, N. T., Kulkarni, C. S., & Kumbhar, A. (2017). A Study of Perception of First Year MBBS Students on Case-Based Learning in Biochemistry as A Method To Improve Analytical Thinking. *National Journal of Integrated Research in Medicine*, 8(5), 67–70.
- Salgar, S. T. (2014). Case based learning: an innovative student-centred methodology for teaching biochemistry. *International Journal of Biomedical Research*, 5(1), 25–27.
 https://doi.org/10.7439/ijbr.v5i1.455
- Stains, M., Harshman, J., Barker, M. K., Chasteen, S. V., Cole, R., DeChenne-Peters, S. E., ... & Young, A. M. (2018). Anatomy of STEM teaching in North American universities. *Science*, *359*(6383), 1468-1470.
- 19. Lundeberg, M. A., and Yadav, A. (2006) Assessment of case study teaching: Where do we go from here? Part II. J. Coll. Sci. Teach. 35, 8–13.
- 20. Thistlethwaite, J. E., Davies, D., Ekeocha, S., Kidd, J. N., MacDougall, C., Matthews, P., Purkis, J., and Clay, D. (2012) The effectiveness of case-based learning in health professional education. A BEME systematic review: BEME Guide No. 23. Med. Teach. 34, e421–e444.
- 21. Hartfield P. (2010). Reinforcing constructivist teaching in advanced level Biochemistry through the introduction of case-based learning activities. J Learn Des, 3, 20–31. <u>https://doi.org/10.5204/jld.v3i3.59</u>

- 22. Marton, F., & Säljö, R. (1976). On qualitative differences in learning: I—Outcome and process. *British journal of educational psychology*, 46(1), 4-11. http://dx.doi.org/10.1111/j.2044-8279.1976.tb02980.x
- McLeod, N. (1998). What teachers cannot do in large classes (Research Rep. No. 7). Leeds, UK: Leeds University.
- 24. Shetty, J. K., Begum, G. S., Goud, M. B. K., & Zaki, B. (2016). Comparison of didactic lectures and case-based learning in an undergraduate biochemistry course at RAK Medical and Health Sciences University, UAE. *Journal of Evolution of Medical and Dental Sciences*, 5(50), 3212. <u>https://doi.org/10.14260/jemds/2016/745</u>
- 25. Kulak, V., & Newton, G. (2015). An Investigation of the Pedagogical Impact of Using Case-Based Learning in a Undergraduate Biochemistry Course. International Journal of Higher Education, 4(4), 13-24.
- 26. Kumari, R., Kumari, N., Kumar, S., Saran, A., & Kumar, U. (2016). Introduction Of Case Based Learning In Teaching Of Biochemistry In IGIMS Patna. *National Journal of Integrated Research in Medicine*, 7(5), 82–86.
- Hancock, T. (1996). Effects of class size on college student achievement. College Student Journal, 30(2), 479-481.